RECEIVED

Jul 03 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-10-01790

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000293

Jerome B. Crites Jr., Trustee of The BAC Trust U/A Dated April 9, 2021, _____ Respondent,

v.

Lawrence E. Miller, _____ Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

s/E. Gordon Hay, VI

E. Gordon Hay, VI, Esq. Bar No.: 103641

John H. Guerry, Esq., Bar No.: 101219

Jerry N. Theos, Esq., Bar No.: 5518

Theos Law Firm, LLC

11 State Street

Charleston, South Carolina 29401

(843) 577-7046 P; (843) 203-4985 F

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

July 3, 2024

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON PLEADINGS WITHOUT PROPERLY ACCEPTING THE PERTINENT FACTS AS ADMITTED AND CONSTRUING THE FACTS AND INFERENCES IN THE LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO APPELLANT?
2. TO THE EXTENT THE TRIAL COURT CONVERTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION INTO A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO AFFORD THE APPELLANT A REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT AND DEVELOP EVIDENCE?
3. TO THE EXTENT THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONVERTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION INTO A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE MOTION IN SPITE OF THE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AND AN UNDEVELOPED RECORD?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 12, 2023, Respondent filed the instant action against Appellant, raising claims for 1) “Breach of Contract/Specific Performance- Settlement Agreement”; 2) “Violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 27-50-10, et. seq.; § 27-50-40; & § 27-50-65 -Knowing Disclosure of False or Misleading Information”; 3) “Fraudulent Misrepresentation” related to a sale of real property. *See* Complaint (R. pp. 7-22). Appellant timely filed an Answer on May 19, 2023, denying the allegations raised in the Complaint and raising numerous affirmative defenses. *See* Answer (R. pp. 29-29). On June 2, 2023, Respondent filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRPC. *See* Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. pp. 40-41). On January 25, 2024, both parties submitted written memoranda of law pertaining to the Motion. *See* Memorandum in Support of Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. pp. 42-54); Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. pp. 58-66).

On February 1, 2024, the Trial Court held a hearing on Respondent’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. At the hearing, Respondent argued that the Court should first address his Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings as to his claim for “Breach of Contract/Specific Performance-Settlement Agreement” and submitted that a favorable ruling on that cause of action would resolve the case in its entirety. *See* Transcript p. 3, lines 24-25 (R. p. 80, lines 24-25); p. 4, lines 1-3 (R. p. 81, lines 1-3); p. 16, lines 16-25 (R. p. 93, lines 16-25); p. 17, lines 1-9 (R. p. 94, lines 1-9). Moreover, later in the hearing, Respondent’s Counsel specifically clarified that that he was only moving for Judgment on the Pleadings as to this Claim for “Breach of Contract/Specific Performance- Settlement Agreement” and not as to the other claims raised in his Complaint. *See* Transcript p. 16, lines 16-25 (R. p. 93, lines 16-25); p. 17, lines 1-9 (R. p. 94, lines 1-9). The Court agreed and found that Respondent was entitled to Judgment on the Pleadings as to the claim for “Breach of Contract/Specific Performance- Settlement Agreement” after concluding that

Appellant's *pro se* communications with Appellant's counsel constituted a valid and enforceable settlement agreement in the amount of \$8,000.00.¹ *See* Transcript p. 16, lines 16-25 (R. p. 93, lines 16-25); p. 17, lines 1-25 (R. p. 94, lines 1-25); p. 18 lines 1-20 (R. p. 95, lines 1-20). On February 2, 2024, the Court entered a written Order granting Respondent's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and providing that its Order ended the case. *See* Order of February 2, 2024 (R. pp. 1-3). On February 12, 2024, Respondent filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCR, which the Trial Court denied on February 20, 2024. *See* Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend (R. pp. 70-77); Order of February 20, 2024 (R. pp. 4-6). On March 1, 2024, Appellant served the Notice of Appeal on Respondent.

¹ As such, the Trial Court made no ruling related to the other two claims raised by Respondent in his Complaint and such claims are not at issue on appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Any party may move for a judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c), SCRPC.” *See Pope v. Wilson*, 427 S.C. 377, 384, 831 S.E.2d 442, 445 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 286, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000)). On review of the motion, “the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted” and “may not consider matters outside the pleadings.” *Id.* Furthermore, the Court must also construe the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *See Russell v. City of Columbia*, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991); *see also Lewis v. Excel Mech., LLC*, No. 2:13-CV-281-PMD, 2013 WL 4585873, at *1 (D.S.C. Aug. 28, 2013) (“The court must accept all well pleaded factual allegations in the non-moving party's pleadings as true and reject all contravening assertions in the moving party's pleadings as false.”).² In other words, judgment on the pleadings is only warranted if “the moving party has clearly established that no material issue of fact remains to be resolved and the [moving] party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Lewis*, 2013 WL 4585873, at *1; *see also Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339. A motion for judgment on the pleadings is “drastic procedure” which should only be used in limited circumstances. *See Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89; *Lewis*, 2013 WL 4585873, at *2. Relatedly, this Court has explicitly cautioned against prematurely granting motions for judgment on the pleadings “before discovery has been fully completed.” *Falk*, 341 S.C. at 290, 533 S.E.2d at 354.

“If, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and

² In light of the limited authority directly addressing the appropriate standard of review when a Plaintiff files a Rule 12(c) Motion, Appellant directs the Court to the United States District Court of South Carolina’s Order in *Lewis v. Excel Mech. LLC* for guidance. *See e.g., Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 565, 787 S.E.2d 498, 510 (2016) (“In construing the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, our Court looks for guidance to cases interpreting the federal rules.”).

disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.” Rule 12(c), SCRPC. Summary judgment is “drastic remedy” that is only appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and when the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56, SCRPC; *Spence v. Wingate*, 395 S.C. 148, 156, 716 S.E.2d 920, 925 (2011) (recognizing that summary judgment must “be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial.”). “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion”, *Spence*, 395 S.C. at 156, 716 S.E.2d at 925, and “[a]ll ambiguities, conclusions and inferences arising in and from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the movant for summary judgment.” *Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co.*, 267 S.C. 607, 610, 230 S.E.2d 447, 448 (1976). Summary judgment is not warranted “where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 362, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002). It is also inappropriate even when the evidentiary facts are not in dispute “if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.” *Id.* “Moreover, summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.” *Baird v. Charleston Cnty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 529, 511 S.E.2d 69, 74 (1999).

“Whether reviewing a grant of summary judgment or a judgment on the pleadings, [appellate courts] apply the same legal standards as the trial court.” *Ziegler v. Dorchester Cnty.*, 426 S.C. 615, 619, 828 S.E.2d 218, 220 (2019). Moreover, the appellate court must “review questions of law *de novo*.” *Id.*

FACTS

Appellant Lawrence Miller is an elderly retired Navy Veteran, who resides in Summerville, South Carolina. Prior to 2021, Appellant was the owner of real property, located at 1642 Clyde Street, Charleston South Carolina (the “Property”). *See* Complaint p. 1-2 (R. pp. 7-8). On or about March 12, 2021, Appellant entered into a real estate contract with Respondent to sell his home. *See* Complaint p. 2 (R. p. 8, line 6). On or about May 7, 2021, the parties closed on the property and Appellant conveyed title to Respondent. *See* Complaint p. 3 (R. p. 9, line 10).

Over six months after the closing and living in the house, on or about September 13, 2021, Respondent, after retaining an attorney, sent Appellant a demand letter, alleging that Appellant failed to properly disclose alleged property defects, including alleged defects related to the Property’s chimney, and threatening litigation regarding the same. *See* Complaint p. 5 (R. p. 11, line 23); Answer p. 3 (R. p. 31, line 14). While adamantly denying the various allegations raised by Respondent, Appellant, an elderly retired man, attempted to engage in *pro se* negotiations with Respondent’s Counsel in order to avoid litigation and the significant costs associated with the same, which comprised numerous emails, letters, and correspondence between Appellant, Respondent, and their real estate agents over the course of months. *See* Answer p. 3 (R. p. 31); Transcript p. 3, lines 22-23 (R. p. 80, lines 22-23). On October, 24, 2021, Appellant sent a *pro se* letter to Respondent’s counsel disputing Respondent’s allegations and specifically outlining numerous factual issues regarding Respondent’s reliance on an improper and unsolicited repair estimate from an unlicensed chimney company; the Respondent’s attempt to get Appellant to pay for additional alleged foundation/structural repairs; and the fact that Respondent was either aware of or should have been aware of many of the purported defects and/or issues. *See* Complaint Ex. 4 p. 2-3 (R. pp. 23-25). In light of these numerous issues and in attempt to resolve the entire dispute,

Respondent offered \$8,000.00, which he noted covered the chimney company's estimate and half of the alleged attorney's fee but not any other alleged damages associated with purported foundation/structural issues. *See id.* In response, on Friday, November 12, 2021, shortly before the close of business, Respondent Counsel's sent a letter to Appellant specifically providing in relevant part:

I am in receipt of your letter dated October 24, 2021, containing your counter-offer of an \$8,000.00 settlement payment to Mr. Crites in exchange for a complete resolution of this matter. I've discussed this offer with my client, and although **we disagree with most of the assertions contained in your letter**, Mr. Crites has elected to accept your offer to resolve and release **all claims regarding this chimney dispute matter** completely and entirely for a settlement payment in the amount of \$8,000.00.

See Complaint Ex. 5 p. 2 (R. p. 27) (emphasis added). Immediately thereafter, on the following day, Saturday, November 13, 2021, Appellant sent an email response to Respondent's letter, at which time he made unequivocally clear that he did not agree to terms of Respondent's purported acceptance letter, noting that the "tone and **content** of [the] letter is unprofessional and unacceptable", that he was seriously considering with withdrawing his offer, and that a follow-up letter regarding the same would be forthcoming. *See* Memorandum In Support of Motion for Judgment on the Pleading, Ex. 1 p. 2 (R. p. 56); Memorandum in Opposition of Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, Ex. 1 p. 2 (R. p. 68) (emphasis added). Within the next 48-hours, on Sunday, November 14, 2021 and Monday, November 15, 2021, Appellant confirmed in email correspondence that there was no settlement agreement and that that any alleged offer made by him was withdrawn. *See* Memorandum in Opposition of Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, Ex. 1 p. 1-2 (R. pp. 67-68). Thereafter, Respondent filed the instant action against Appellant, and Appellant retained the undersigned counsel.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS, IN THAT IT FAILED TO PROPERLY ACCEPT THE FACTS ALLEGED IN APPELLANT’S ANSWER AS ADMITTED AND CONSTRUE THE FACTS AND INFERENCES IN LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO APPELLANT.

The Trial Court erred in Granting Respondent’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, in that it failed to properly accept the allegations of Appellant’s Answer as true and construe all inferences in the light most favorable to Respondent as the non-moving party. *See Russell*, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339; *see also Lewis, LLC*, 2013 WL 4585873, at *1.

As a general matter, South Carolina courts view settlement agreements as contracts. *See Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 241, 672 S.E.2d 799, 802 (Ct. App. 2009). In order to prevail on a cause of action for a breach of contract, a plaintiff has the burden to prove: 1) a binding contract entered into by the parties; (2) breach or unjustifiable failure to perform the contract; and (3) damage as a direct and proximate result of the breach. *See, e.g., Fuller v. E. Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 240 S.C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (1962). For there to be a contract, there must be an offer, acceptance, and consideration. *See Electro-Lab of Aiken, Inc. v. Sharp Constr. Co. of Sumter*, 357 S.C. 363, 368, 593 S.E.2d 170, 173 (Ct. App. 2004). Notably, “a contract only arises when there is an actual agreement by the parties in which the parties demonstrate a mutual intent to be bound.” *See id.* at 368; *see also Ozyagcilar v. Davis*, 701 F.2d 306, 308 (4th Cir. 1983) (recognizing that there must be a “meeting of the minds” to create an enforceable settlement agreement). Further, there is no contract or mutual assent when a purported acceptance varies or modifies the terms of an offer, which instead constitutes a counter-offer which may be accepted or rejected by the other party. *See, e.g., Sossamon v. Littlejohn*, 241 S.C. 478, 486, 129 S.E.2d 124,

127 (1963). Notably, a grant of judgment on the pleadings, or summary judgment for that matter, is not appropriate if the terms of contract at issue are ambiguous. *See Pee Dee Stores, Inc.*, 381 S.C. at 242, 672 S.E.2d at 803 (reversing trial court’s grant of summary judgement when the terms of a settlement agreement were ambiguous). “Whether the language of a contract is ambiguous is a question of law for the court.” *Id.* (citing *Auten v. Snipes*, 370 S.C. 664, 669, 636 S.E.2d 644, 646 (Ct. App. 2006)). “A contract is ambiguous when the terms of the contract are reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation.” *Id.* (citations omitted). “The uncertainty in interpretation can arise from the words of the instrument, or in the application of the words to the object they describe.” *Id.* (citing *Hann v. Carolina Cas. Inc. Co.*, 252 S.C. 518, 524, 167 S.E.2d 420, 422 (1969)). “Whether a contract is ambiguous must be determined from the entire contract and not from any isolated clause of the agreement.” *Id.* (citing *Farr v. Duke Power Co.*, 265 S.C. 356, 362, 218 S.E.2d 431, 433 (1975)).

In his Answer to the Complaint, Respondent specifically and explicitly denied that any settlement agreement was entered into between the parties or that the proposed settlement terms were agreed upon by the parties. *See Answer p. 3-4 (R. pp. 31-32)*. Furthermore, Respondent specifically raised the lack of mutual assent/meeting of the minds as a defense. *See Answer p. 7-8 (R. pp. 35-36)*; *see Electro-Lab of Aiken, Inc.*, 357 S.C. at 368 (providing that mutual assent is requirement to proving an enforceable contract). Moreover, Appellant raised numerous other contract-related defenses, including, but not limited to, unconscionability, mistake, and waiver, laches, estoppel, unclean hands, which should be resolved on the merits following appropriate discovery. *See Answer p. 6-11 (R. pp. 34-39)*; *See Lewis*, 2013 WL 4585873, at *1 (finding that the plaintiff’s motion for judgment on the pleadings was not appropriate in light of the factual issues that needed to be resolved, including the applicability of the affirmative defenses raised by

the defendant); *see also State Acc. Fund v. S.C. Second Inj. Fund*, 388 S.C. 67, 77, 693 S.E.2d 441, 446 (Ct. App. 2010) (providing that unilateral mistake can provide grounds for contract rescission when the mistake is induced “by fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, concealment, or imposition ..., without negligence on the part of the party claiming rescission, or where mistake is accompanied by very strong and extraordinary circumstances which would make it a great wrong to enforce the agreement.”); *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 85, 650 S.E.2d 465, 471 (2007) (Laches, Waiver, and Equitable Estoppel); *Ingram v. Kasey's Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 107, 531 S.E.2d 287, 292 (2000) (Unclean Hands). Furthermore and notably, Appellant further alleged in his Answer that:

[W]ithin 24-hours after Plaintiff’s purported acceptance letter, made unequivocally clear that Defendant did not agree to Plaintiff’s proposed settlement terms. Further answering, Defendant’s *pro se* communications to Plaintiff’s counsel, made within 24-hours after Plaintiff’s purported acceptance letter, confirmed that any alleged offer that was made by the Defendant had been unequivocally withdrawn.

See Answer p. 3 (R. p. 31, line 17). Such allegations, at the very least, go to the issue of mutual assent and an elderly *pro se* litigant’s understanding and comprehension of the terms of the purported agreement, as well as his understanding as to finality of the settlement negotiations. *See Electro-Lab of Aiken, Inc.*, 357 S.C. at 368 (discussing mutual assent); *see also State Acc. Fund*, 388 S.C. at 77 (discussing defense of mistake).

While these allegations alone are sufficient to render the grant of judgment on the pleadings improper, Appellant further contends, that contrary to Respondent’s assertions, the terms of the purported settlement agreement were not mutually agreed upon and were otherwise ambiguous. *See Electro-Lab of Aiken, Inc.*, 357 S.C. at 368; *see also Pee Dee Stores, Inc.*, 381 S.C. at 242, 672 S.E.2d at 803. In Appellant’s October 24, 2021 *pro se* letter to Respondent’s Counsel, Appellant outlined numerous factual issues with Respondent’s assertions, claims, and purported damages

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