RECEIVED

Jul 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-10-01790
Appellate Case No.: 2024-000293

Jerome B. Crites Jr., Trustee of the
BAC Trust U/A Dated April 9, 2021,

Respondent,

v.

Lawrence E. Miller,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Lindsey W. Cooper Jr.

Nicholas P. Tierney

M. Linsay Boyce

The Law Offices of L.W. Cooper Jr., LLC

36 Broad Street, 3rd Floor

Charleston, SC 29401

843.375.6622

Attorneys for Respondent

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

First, Miller argues that the Trial Court failed to properly accept the allegations in Miller's Answer as true and construe all references in the light most favorable to him. (Appellant's Brief pp. 8-9). However, the Court did accept Miller's Answer as true and in the light most favorable to him. Miller admitted in his Answer that he sent the Settlement Offer letter. (R. pp. 11, 24-25, 31; Compl. ¶¶ 24-25, Ex. 4, Settlement Offer; Answer ¶¶ 15, 17). Miller also admitted that he received the Acceptance Letter prior to attempting to revoke his Settlement Offer.

(R. pp. 11-12, 27, 31; Compl. ¶¶ 25-26, Ex. 5, Acceptance Letter; Answer ¶ 17). The Trial Court based its findings on the Settlement Offer and the Acceptance Letter and Miller's own Answer, which clearly show an offer of \$8,000 to resolve the parties dispute, and an acceptance of that offer by Crites. (*Id.*). In his Answer, Miller admitted his settlement Offer was made and the Acceptance Letter was received prior to his attempted revocation. The Trial Court was required to accept Miller's admissions to Crites' allegations as true, which it did. "The allegations, statements, or admissions contained in a pleading are conclusive as against the pleader and a party cannot subsequently take a position contradictory of, or inconsistent with, his pleadings and the acts [that] are admitted by the pleadings are taken as true against the pleader of the purpose of the action." *Town of Kingstree v. Chapman*, 405 S.C. 282, 311 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Postal v. Mann*, 308 S.C. 385, 387 (Ct. App. 1992)).

Next, Miller argues that there was ambiguity regarding the terms of the Settlement Agreement. (Appellant's Brief pp. 8-10). This argument is without merit. Further, the issue was not raised in the Trial Court below, and thus, is not preserved on appeal. As an initial matter, the word ambiguity or ambiguities is found nowhere in the hearing Transcript or in Miller's Answer.⁵ Additionally, the

⁵ The word ambiguity was located in a case citation in Miller's Memo in Opposition; however, no argument of ambiguity was made in the brief or at the hearing. (R. p. 60, Memo in Opposition p.3.)

Trial Court found that the Settlement Agreement comprised of the Settlement Offer and Acceptance Letter could not be susceptible to more than one interpretation. (R. pp. 94-95; Transcript pp. 17:15-24, 18:6-15). Only on appeal does Miller now argue that Paragraph 17 of his Answer, standing alone, causes mutual assent to be materially at issue (Appellant's Brief p.10). Paragraph 17 of Miller's Answer states:

[W]ithin 24-hours after Plaintiff's purported acceptance letter, made unequivocally clear that Defendant did not agree to Plaintiff's proposed settlement terms. Further answering, Defendant's *pro se* communications to Plaintiff's counsel, made within 24-hours after Plaintiff's purported acceptance letter, confirmed that any alleged offer that was made by the Defendant had been unequivocally withdrawn.

Rather than support his position, Miller's Answer here expressly admits that he did not attempt to withdraw his offer until after Crites' acceptance of the offer. (*Id.*). Miller's argument attempts to reconstitute Crites' acceptance as, instead, the initial offer and that Crites, rather than Miller, proposed settlement terms. Such reconfiguration would require the Court to ignore Crites' Settlement Offer, which was admitted, and Crites' own Answer, which states he received the Acceptance Letter before he attempted to revoke his Settlement Offer. Crites' Acceptance Letter is clear: "Mr. Crites has elected to accept your offer to resolve and release all claims between the parties regarding this chimney dispute matter completely and entirely for a settlement payment of \$8,000.00." (R. p. 27; Compl. Ex. 5,

Acceptance Letter). There was no counter-offer or new proposed terms. Miller's Settlement Offer letter says specifically, "in one last effort to failure resolve this situation short of expensive litigation, I'm offering \$8,000 to cover the Ashbusters Estimate and half of the lawyer fee." (R. pp. 23-25; Compl. Ex. 4, Offer Letter). The settlement agreement was clear, and Miller admitted all elements of formation of that contract in his Answer.

Miller asserts, for the first time on appeal, that the Acceptance Letter was a counter-offer and that ambiguity exists as to whether the Settlement Offer was intended to resolve any and all claims or disputes that arise from the purchase and sale of the Property or just the Chimney dispute. (Appellant's Brief, pp.10-11). This argument is improper as Miller did not preserve this argument by raising it in front of the Trial Court. *See Wilder Corp v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review."). Moreover, an objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector. *Id.* at 733. At no time did Miller or his counsel argue that there was a counter-offer or any misunderstanding about what was being released between the parties prior to Appellant's Brief. (*See generally* R. pp. 78-96; Transcript; *see also* R. pp. 58-66; Miller's Memo in Opp.).

Even if the issue was properly preserved for appeal, it nonetheless fails to create any material issue of fact or ambiguity regarding the Settlement Agreement. There was only one dispute between the parties. In Appellant's Brief, Miller points to no other existing dispute between the parties that could be the subject of any other claim or dispute⁶. And indeed, he cannot. Both parties understood that the payment would resolve their single existing dispute, and the parties would go along their respective ways. Indeed, Miller referred to the payment as resolving "this situation" and Crites said it would resolve "this chimney dispute matter completely and entirely for a settlement payment in the amount of \$8,000.00." (R. pp. 23-25, 27; Compl. Ex. 4, Offer Letter and Ex. 5, Acceptance Letter). Moreover, Crites' response was clear, "Mr. Crites has elected to accept your offer" referring specifically to Miller's Settlement Offer letter. Crites' Acceptance Letter did not add terms to the offer. It was, quite simply, an acceptance of the terms offered. As the Trial Court succinctly held: Miller "knew exactly what he was doing. He knew exactly what was going on." (R. p. 95, lines 5-16; Transcript p.18:5-16).

"In deciding whether a settlement agreement has been reached, the Court looks to objectively manifested intentions of the parties." *Sadighi*, 66 F.Supp.2d at 759. The manifest intent of the parties is clear from the Offer letter and the

⁶ To the extent Appellant purports to assert ambiguity was created between release of the chimney matters as opposed foundation matters, both of those matters were identified together in the dispute and referenced specifically in Mr. Miller's Settlement Offer as the same dispute. (See R. pp. 23-25; Compl. Ex. 4, Settlement Offer).

Acceptance Letter. Miller would pay Crites \$8,000.00 in exchange for a full resolution of the dispute between the parties. Crites accepted that Offer in the Acceptance Letter and conveyed such acceptance to Miller before the Offer expired or was otherwise withdrawn or rescinded.

Lastly, Miller argues that the Trial Court's Order was premature as discovery had not yet been produced and no depositions had been taken. However, "the nonmoving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional relevant evidence and that the party is 'not merely engaged in fishing expedition.'" *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69 (2003) (quoting *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 544 (1991)). Here, Miller failed to state even a single fact that discovery might show that would change his Answer or the Court's determination. (See generally Appellant's Brief). Nor did he raise any such points with the Trial Court. See *Wilder Corp v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.").

If Miller believed facts to exist in discovery that might change his Answer, the proper resolution (before hearing) was to move to amend his Answer. Miller did not, and indeed, cannot. No amount of discovery is going to change the plain

and simple fact that Mr. Crites accepted Mr. Miller's Offer to resolve the dispute for \$8,000.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT CONVERT RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS INTO A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT⁷.

The Trial Court did not err in failing to give Miller proper notice and a reasonable opportunity to present or develop evidence because Crites' Respondent's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was not converted into a Motion for Summary Judgment.

"In resolving a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the court may consider the pleadings and exhibits attached thereto, relevant facts obtained from the public record, and exhibits to the motion that are 'integral to the complaint and authentic.'" *United States v. Mashni*, 547 F.Supp.3d at 503 (interpreting FED. R. CIV. P. 12(c), which is nearly identical to the first sentence of S.C. R. CIV. P. 12(c)); see also *Carolina First Corp.*, 343 S.C. at 190 n.7 (citing *Stoner*, 772 F.Supp at 797-798 ("Generally, a court may consider documents outside of the complaint if the complaint incorporates the documents by reference.")). The Trial Court entered its order based on the pleadings, the exhibits attached thereto, documents

⁷ Respondent addresses both of Appellants arguments "II" and "III" in this Section for efficiency, as they both pertain to whether or not Crites' Motion was converted to that of one for Summary Judgement.

expressly referenced therein. (*See generally* R. pp. 1-3, 78-96; Order granting Crites' Motion; Transcript).

First, as noted by Miller in his brief, Crites did not move for, nor did he request, that his Motion be converted to a Rule 56 Summary Judgment motion. (Appellant's Brief p.13). At the hearing, the Trial Court judge did not identify that he was converting the Motion to one that was for summary judgment or that he considered documents outside of the pleadings or those expressly referenced and incorporated therein, such that the Motion need be converted. (*See generally* R. pp. 78-96; Transcript). Further, at no point in time at the hearing did counsel for Miller argue that the Motion was being or had been converted to that of summary judgment, and that he therefore needed more time to prepare for such occurrence. (*Id.*). Miller did not object to the consideration of any documents referenced in the pleadings, nor did he request the opportunity to introduce documents of his own that would contradict his client's own admissions in the Answer. Miller did not argue that the Motion should be denied because documents or materials outside of the pleading were being introduced and that he did not have an opportunity to prepare for what he now considered a summary judgement motion or hearing. (*Id.*).

Second, the email attached to Crites' Memo in Support is expressly identified and incorporated in paragraph 27 of the Complaint. Specifically,

Paragraph 27 states: “Defendant acknowledged receipt of the Settlement Agreement acceptance by email prior to withdrawing it’s offer or the [Settlement] Offer expiring.” (R. p. 12; Compl. ¶ 27). The email attached to Crites’ Memo in Support is an email chain that shows Crites’ counsel Nicholas Tierney emailing the November 12, 2021, Acceptance Letter to Miller, and Miller responding on November 13, 2021 making comments regarding the professionalism of the letter and stating that he is now considering withdrawing his Settlement Offer (R. pp. 55-57; Memo in Support, Ex. 1, Emails). Crites specifically identified this email in the Memo in Support, and Crites cited to paragraph 27 of the Complaint wherein the email was incorporated by reference. (*Id.*, p.4). In response, Miller did not make any assertion that the attachment of the email converted the Motion to a summary judgment motion. Moreover, the email was identified solely for the purpose of reflecting that Mr. Crites received the Acceptance Letter and had not withdrawn the Settlement Offer after his receipt of it.⁸ (*Id.* pp. 3-4). This fact was already admitted by Miller in his Answer, and therefore, the Trial Court need not (and likely did not) consider the email to grant Crites’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. p. 31; Answer ¶ 17).

⁸ This was used to provide clarity to ¶¶16-17 in Miller’s Answers which identify that Miller did receive the Acceptance Letter before any purported withdrawal of the Settlement Offer.

Courts in South Carolina permit documents that are specifically incorporated by reference in the Complaint (even those not attached) to be considered in 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss and motions for judgment on the pleadings, and that consideration of those documents does not convert them to summary judgment motions. *E.g., Brazell v. Windsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 516 (2009). Moreover, Miller's reliance on *Brown v. Leverette* and *Baird v. Charleston County* is misguided and provides no support. (Appellant's Brief p.13). Crites did not submit or attempt to provide any affidavits or testimonial evidence in support of his Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. Accordingly, any consideration of the email contained in Crites' Memo in Support was not material to the Trial Court's findings and would not have converted the Motion to a motion for summary judgment.

To the extent Miller asserts that the documents he attached to his Memo in Opposition were considered by the Trial Court and somehow converted the Motion to a summary judgment motion, such argument is self-defeating. Miller cannot complain that he was provided no notice that the Trial Court would consider documents outside the pleadings and then object to its consideration of the documents he himself submitted. The purpose of providing notice that a court will convert a motion for judgment on the pleadings to a motion for summary judgment is to provide the party opportunity to submit competing exhibits and

affidavits. Rule 12(c), S.C. R. CIV. P. Here, even if the Trial Court had converted the Motion to a summary judgment motion, Miller's argument simply shows that he had an equal opportunity to submit evidence in support of his position. Notably, the document about which Miller complains is the exact email chain offered by Crites and acknowledged in Miller's Answer as his response in receipt of the Acceptance Letter. (R. pp. 12, 31, 56-57, 67-69; Compl. ¶ 27; Answer ¶ 17; *see* Memo in Support Ex. 1, Emails, Memo in Opposition, Ex. 1, Emails). Again, this email was incorporated by reference in Paragraph 27 of the Complaint, and there is clearly no additional or other evidence that Miller could present to change the fact that he sent it. (*Id.*).

Lastly, Appellant's arguments regarding outstanding discovery are both inaccurate and misleading. Miller asserts that Crites did not respond to Miller's discovery requests prior to the February Hearing. (Appellant's Initial Brief p.17). This is inaccurate. Crites served responses to Miller's discovery requests, including requests for production and interrogatories on January 12, 2024. These discovery responses were sent within the time agreed to by counsel pursuant to a 10-day extension on the deadline to deliver responses on Friday, January 12, 2024⁹. Moreover, the failure to receive any discovery responses was not argued or

⁹ This consent extension is evidenced by emails between Nicholas Tierney on behalf of Crites and Mr. John Guerry on behalf of Mr. Miller dated January 2, 2024.

presented to the Trial Court at Hearing or in Miller's Memo in opposition to be considered before final Order was entered. (*See generally* R. pp. 58-66, 78-96; Miller Memo in Opposition; Transcript). Notwithstanding these misstatements, and as outlined in Respondent's arguments hereinabove, no additional discovery would have had any effect on the fact that a settlement agreement was formed as a matter of law.

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